In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S191240

v.

RAMIRO GONZALES,

Defendant and Appellant.

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H032866 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. 211111 The Honorable Alfonso Fernandez, Judge

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 23 2011

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

ISSUES

- 1. Does testimony of a psychotherapist regarding the details of records from parole-mandated sex offender psychotherapy in sexually violent predator (SVP) proceedings violate the state psychotherapist-patient privilege?
- 2. If so, what harmless-error standard applies to a violation of the state psychotherapist-patient privilege in an SVP proceeding?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 1994, appellant was convicted of lewd and lascivious conduct with a minor and sentenced to prison. (1 RT 115.) Subsequently, the state initiated an SVP proceeding. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6000 et seq.) A jury found appellant was not an SVP. In 2004, appellant was released on parole with conditions prohibiting him from drinking alcohol, contacting minor children, or being within 100 feet of places where children congregate. (1 RT 78; 2 RT 381-387.) Appellant was also required to attend outpatient sex-offender psychotherapy treatment, and to inform his parole agent of contacts with any minor, even if accidental. (3 RT 429, 431.)

In January 2006, appellant entered the High Risk Sex Offender Program at the Atkinson Center—pursuant to the psychotherapy treatment condition of parole imposed by the state. (1 CT 135; 3 RT 495, 501.) At intake, the Center administered to appellant the Abel Sex Offender-Specific Questionnaire for Men, in response to which he disclosed the high number of children that he had touched sexually. (3 RT 521; 1 CT 140.) During the psychotherapy treatment, appellant attended both individual and group counseling sessions. (3 RT 497.)

Appellant was required to wear a GPS monitoring device as of April 2006. (3 RT 462.) On August 11, the GPS monitor showed that appellant

had been in a park with a playground the previous day. (3 RT 481.) An alerted parole agent heard children in the background when he called appellant's home to speak to him and immediately went to the house. (3 RT 481-482.) The agent found appellant's niece and nephew, ages two and seven, in the driveway of the home. (3 RT 483; 5 RT 874.) Appellant told the agent that he had been drinking three beers a week between June and August 2006, that he knew he was not supposed to be near a playground, that he had stopped in the park to roll a cigarette, and that he did not look at the children. (3 RT 482, 490; 4 RT 635-636.)

Appellant was arrested and returned to custody as a parole violator. In an SVP screening in late 2006 before his re-release, Dr. Thomas MacSpeiden and Dr. Jack Vognsen diagnosed appellant as a pedophile whose condition caused impaired emotional and volitional capacity. (1 RT 133; 4 RT 488, 732-734.) Dr. MacSpeiden also diagnosed appellant as alcohol dependent with borderline intellectual functioning. (1 RT 84.) Dr. Vognsen diagnosed appellant with alcohol abuse and mild mental retardation. (1 RT 474.) The doctors found appellant likely to engage in sexually violent predatory criminal acts due to his disorders. (1 RT 174; 4 RT 764-765.)

Based on the evaluations, the Santa Clara County District Attorney filed a petition to commit appellant as an SVP. Prior to trial, the prosecutor subpoenaed appellant's treatment records from the Atkinson Center. Appellant moved to quash the subpoena, arguing that his records were protected by the psychotherapist-patient privilege. (1 RT 3; 1 CT 114-120.) The prosecution replied that, whether or not the privilege attached to the records, the dangerous-patient exception in Evidence Code section 1024 allowed disclosure. The court agreed: "I do find that they are privileged. However, I do think they are relevant and Mr. Gonzales would fall under

the dangerous patient statutory exception, and they will therefore be released given those facts." (1 RT 11.)

At trial, Dr. Pat McAndrews, appellant's therapist at the Atkinson Center, testified regarding appellant's therapy sessions. At appellant's initial assessment, he admitted touching 16 children in a sexual manner. (3 RT 521; 1 CT 140.) According to Dr. McAndrews, appellant did not tell her that his sister and her children were living at his mother's house, and he did not tell her that he was drinking beer. (3 RT 547.) Dr. McAndrews testified that appellant's presence at his mother's house when children were there, combined with appellant's consumption of beer, was a "recipe for a sex offense." (3 RT 549.)

The jury found the petition to be true. The court committed appellant to the Department of Mental Health (DMH) for an indeterminate term. (2 CT 551, 552.)

Appellant appealed. The Court of Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District held that the release of the Atkinson Center records to the state violated appellant's statutory psychotherapist-patient privilege. Relying on Story v. Superior Court (2003) 109 Cal.App.4th 1007 and In re Pedro M. (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 550, the court determined that the parole-mandated therapy records in issue—specifically, records of therapy sessions between appellant and his treating psychologist, Dr. McAndrews—were presumptively privileged and that the dangerous-patient exception did not apply. (Slip Opn. at pp. 11-13.) The court distinguished People v. Lakey (1980) 102 Cal.App.3d 962 and People v. Martinez (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 465 as holding only that the "psychotherapist-patient privilege does not protect psychological records of a previous involuntary commitment." (Slip Opn. at p. 15.) The court reasoned that parole-mandated therapy is instead ordered "to assist the defendant's rehabilitation; and preserving confidentiality will facilitate that goal." (Slip Opn. at p. 18.)

After finding trial error in releasing appellant's therapy records to the state for use in an SVP commitment proceeding, the Court of Appeal held, for purposes of harmless error analysis, that the violation of appellant's psychotherapist-patient privilege also violated the federal Constitution and required the application of the harmless error test in Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24. The court stated that "the United States Supreme Court and the California Supreme Court acknowledge a constitutionally protected interest in the privacy or confidentiality of highly personal information" and that the "great weight of authority . . . recognizes a federal constitutional right to informational privacy that protects medical and psychiatric records from unwarranted, unnecessary, and unjustifiable disclosure." (Slip Opn. at p. 20.) The court ruled that appellant had a "reasonable expectation of privacy" in his psychiatric records and that, because the release of the records was not justified under the "dangerous patient" exception, the state had not demonstrated a sufficient compelling interest to outweigh that expectation of privacy. (Slip Opn. at pp. 33-34.) Having thus found the records release violated appellant's federal constitutional rights, the court held that the error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and reversed the judgment. (Slip Opn. at pp. 37-40.)

On April 27, 2011, this court granted the People's petition for review.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Disclosure of a patient's records of parole-mandated therapy sessions in SVP cases does not violate the statutory psychotherapist-patient privilege. The release of the records to state authorities for use in SVP trials is reasonably necessary to accomplish the goal of protecting society

¹ In an earlier unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeal had found state law error that was harmless under *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836. The court granted rehearing to consider the application of *Chapman v. California*, supra, 386 U.S. 18, 24.

from mentally ill and dangerous individuals in the custody of the state. Therapy for paroled prisoners under the supervision of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation is mandated to ensure the parolee's successful reintegration into society. The state's access to the details of the parolee's therapy sessions is not only justifiable, but a necessity, where, as here, the parolee proves to be a substantial and well-founded danger to the community who is unsuccessfully reintegrating into society.

The Court of Appeal's conclusion that release of the therapeutic records in SVP cases would inhibit the successful treatment of parolees ignores the purpose for which parole-mandated therapy is undertaken. Therapy is undertaken to protect society while the parolee is reintegrating into the community, by treating the individual's mental disorder. Thus, in SVP proceedings, the state seeks to protect the society from future harm, the same goal that it pursues in monitoring parolees during the period of parole. Disclosure of the relevant documents to the state is reasonably necessary to effectuate the purpose of parole-mandated therapy.

Even if release of the therapy records violated the psychotherapist-patient privilege, any error should be evaluated under the state law harmless error standard of *People v. Watson*, *supra*, 46 Cal.2d at page 836. Contrary to the holding of the Court of Appeal, the violation of the statutory privilege did not constitute a violation of appellant's federal constitutional right to privacy. Nor does a violation of the state evidentiary privilege involve incursion into a state-created liberty interest of the sort that results in a federal due process violation. Regardless whether a federal right to informational privacy may inhibit the dissemination of parole-mandated therapy records in some circumstances, a conclusion under state law that the psychotherapist-patient privilege precludes a release of records does not implicate such a federal right, let alone establish a violation of it. The state privilege and any federal constitutional informational privacy right are not

coterminous. Further, in SVP cases, the state's compelling interest in protecting the public and ensuring the reliability of its legal proceedings outweighs a parolee's diminished expectation of privacy in his parolemandated therapy records. The error, thus, did not require harmless error analysis under the federal standard of *Chapman v. California*, *supra*, 386 U.S. at page 24.

Even if appellant could demonstrate a violation of his federal right to informational privacy, evidence of appellant's statements during therapy here turned out to be only minimally relevant to the prosecution's experts. Nor did that evidence even involve the period of parole in dispute at the SVP trial. Thus, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISCLOSURE TO AND USE BY THE STATE OF PAROLE-MANDATED THERAPY RECORDS IN SVP PROCEEDINGS IS EXEMPT FROM THE PSYCHOTHERAPIST-PATIENT PRIVILEGE BECAUSE IT IS REASONABLY NECESSARY TO ACCOMPLISH THE PUBLIC SAFETY GOAL OF THAT THERAPY

The psychotherapist-patient privilege generally protects communications made during therapy. However, there is an exception to the privilege where disclosure of those communications is reasonably necessary for the purpose for which the therapist is consulted. The goal of parole-mandated therapy is to treat the offender in order to ensure that the parolee successfully reintegrates into society. Where the evidence reflects that the parolee is not successfully reintegrating into society and poses a substantial danger to the community, release of the parole-mandated therapy records to the state is reasonably necessary to ensure the reliability of the SVP proceedings, which are undertaken to protect the public from dangerous individuals.

A. The Statutory Psychotherapist-Patient Privilege

The psychotherapist-patient privilege is codified in the state's Evidence Code. Evidence Code section 1014 provides, in part, that "the patient, whether or not a party, has a privilege to refuse to disclose, and to prevent another from disclosing, a confidential communication between patient and psychotherapist" This court has acknowledged "the growing importance of the psychiatric profession in our modern, ultracomplex society." (*In re Lifschutz* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 415, 421.) "Thus, for reasons of policy the psychotherapist-patient privilege has been broadly construed in favor of the patient." (*People v. Stritzinger* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 505, 511.) However, the privilege is not absolute. The statutory scheme provides express exceptions to the privilege. (See Evid. Code, §§ 1017-1027.)

"Evidence Code section 1012 codifies an express exception to the psychotherapist-patient privilege that permits disclosure of otherwise privileged communications between patient and psychotherapist to third persons to whom disclosure is reasonably necessary to accomplish the purpose for the which the psychotherapist is consulted." (*In re Christopher M.* (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 684, 696.)

B. The Purpose of Parole-Mandated Therapy Is To Protect The Public by Ensuring a Parolee's Lawful and Successful Reintegration Into Society

As courts have recognized, the exception in Evidence Code section 1012 to permit disclosure of confidential communications where the purpose of therapy is for the protection of society or particular individuals. This line of authority is pertinent to the situation in this case. Appellant's sex offender treatment at the Atkinson Center constituted state-supervised therapy undertaken for the purpose of providing rehabilitation and monitoring his compliance on parole. Disclosure of appellant's

confidential communications in the course of that therapy was reasonably necessary because there was evidence that he had not been rehabilitated, was not succeeding on parole, and required further mental treatment in the form of an SVP commitment.

An example from this line of authority is *In re Pedro M.*, *supra*, 81 Cal.App.4th 550, which concerned a minor placed on juvenile probation and ordered to attend sex offender therapy. The minor refused to cooperate, and the court held a hearing to determine whether he had violated his probation. The minor's therapist testified that he had failed to comply with the treatment requirements and, on appeal, the minor contended that the testimony should have been excluded as privileged. The appellate court held the evidence was properly admitted:

Quite obviously, the court's ability to evaluate appellant's compliance with this particular condition of the court's disposition order and its effect on his rehabilitation would be severely diminished in the absence of some type of feedback from the therapist, and it would be unreasonable for appellant to think otherwise. . . . Indeed, Evidence Code section 1012 itself permits the disclosure of a confidential communication between patient and psychotherapist to "those to whom disclosure is reasonably necessary for . . . the accomplishment of the purpose for which the psychotherapist is consulted " In our view, this would include the juvenile court, where the patient is a delinquent minor who has been properly directed to participate and cooperate in a sex offender treatment program in conjunction with a disposition order placing the minor on probation. Moreover, the juvenile court carefully sought to circumscribe [the therapist's] testimony "so that the details of the therapeutic session [would] not [be] disclosed."... Under the circumstances, therefore, we hold that the psychotherapistpatient privilege did not preclude [the therapist] from testifying at the adjudication of the supplemental petition concerning appellant's participation and progress in the court-ordered treatment plan.

(*Id.* at pp. 554-555.)

Another example, *In re Kristine W.* (2001) 94 Cal.App.4th 521, concerned the juvenile dependency court's removal of the minor from her abusive father's home. During the dependency proceedings, the court ordered therapy sessions for the minor. The minor argued that allowing her therapist to report to the court about her progress in therapy violated her psychotherapist-patient privilege. The court disagreed:

We conclude the psychotherapist-patient privilege protects Kristine's confidential communications and details of the therapy, but does not preclude her therapist from giving circumscribed information to accomplish the information-gathering goal of therapy. [Citations.] Without information from the therapist, both the court and the Agency would be hampered in their efforts to ensure that Kristine receives services to protect her and enable her to make a successful transition from court-dependent minor to adult.

(94 Cal.App.4th at p. 528.)

These decisions reflect that the purpose of appellant's parolemandated therapy is significant in considering the application of the privilege in this case. The purpose of the therapy was to ensure appellant's lawful and successful reintegration into society by treating his sexual disorders. The Legislature has specifically found and declared that "the period immediately following incarceration is critical to successful reintegration of the offender into society and to positive citizenship. It is in the interest of public safety for the state to provide for the effective supervision of and surveillance of parolees, including the judicious use of revocation actions, and to provide educational, vocational, family and personal counseling necessary to assist parolees in the transition between imprisonment and discharge." (Pen. Code, § 3000, subd. (a)(1), italics added.) A parolee might be released from prison "based on an evaluation that he shows reasonable promise of being able to return to society and function as a responsible, self-reliant person," but the parolee's commission

of a crime nevertheless "justifies imposing extensive restrictions on the individual's liberty." (Morrissey v. Brewer (1972) 408 U.S. 471, 482, 483.) "Society has a stake in whatever may be the chance of restoring him to normal and useful life within the law." (Id. at p. 484.)

Moreover, "[p]risoners on parole shall remain under the legal custody of the department and shall be subject at any time to be taken back within the inclosure of the prison." (Pen. Code, § 3056.) "The granting of parole does not change his status as a prisoner. The parolee is not discharged but merely serves the remainder of his sentence outside rather than within the prison walls." (People v. Denne (1956) 141 Cal.App.2d 499, 508; Pen. Code, § 3000, subd. (a)(1) ["A sentence pursuant to Section 1168 or 1170 shall include a period of parole, unless waived, or as otherwise provided in this statute"].).)

Thus, Dr. McAndrews was engaged, by the state, to treat appellant in order to ensure that he continued to function as a law-abiding individual. Access by the service provider (the state) to the therapist's records became necessary to determine whether the parolee actually was conforming to his parole conditions and successfully functioning in the community. That is, the disclosure of confidential communications was needed to ensure both adequate monitoring of appellant's progress on parole and public safety. At least when the release of the appellant's parole-mandated therapy records is made to the state agency tasked with protecting the public, disclosure of information by the parolee in state-mandate therapy does not violate the privilege when that information is needed for public protection. "[W]hile the information remained confidential as between appellant and the world generally, the transmission of the information to the [state for consideration in an SVP proceeding] was proper in order to accomplish [the] purpose" for which the therapist was consulted. (In re Edward D. (1976) 61 Cal.App.3d 10, 15.)

C. Based on the Requisite Finding of Future
Dangerousness, the Details of Parole-Mandated
Therapy Sessions Are Reasonably Necessary to the
Proper Adjudication of Civil Commitment Proceedings

The *Pedro M.* proceeding involved whether the minor had violated probation, not whether he posed a future danger due to a diagnosed mental disorder. According to *Pedro M.*, details of the therapeutic sessions were not relevant to the probation violation issue, and thus disclosure of those details was not "reasonably necessary." Recognizing that *Pedro M.* authorized the release of therapy records reasonably necessary to ensure compliance on probation, the Court of Appeal extended that holding to the facts in this case, stating that appellant's records were "protected by the privilege except insofar as disclosure is necessary to ensure compliance with the parole condition." (Slip Opn. at p. 16.) But that gave short shrift to the fact that the details of appellant's therapy sessions were "reasonably necessary" to accomplish the purpose of the original parole-mandated treatment—the protection of society from appellant reoffending.

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