S191240

IN THE SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

14

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent

SUPREME COURT

VS.

RAMIRO GONZALES

OCT **26** 2011

Defendant and Appellant

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

8.25(b)

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL SIXTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, CASE NO. H032866

SANTA CLARA SUPERIOR COURT NO. 211111 THE HONORABLE ALFONZO FERNANDEZ, JUDGE PRESIDING

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JEAN MATULIS, SBN 139615

Attorney at Law
P.O. Box 1237

Cambria, California, 93428

(805) 927-1990

Attorney for Appellant

RAMIRO GONZALES

Under Appointment by the California Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I. ABSENT A KNOWING AND INTELLIGENT WAIVER, A PERSON ON PAROLE RETAINS HIS STATE AND FEDERAL RIGHTS TO PRIVACY AND CONFIDENTIALITY INHERENT IN THE PATIENT-PSYCHOTHERAPIST PRIVILEGE

A. Introduction

In response to a prosecution motion in the trial court to release third party information from the "Atkins Center" to be used in proceedings to commit appellant under section 6600, the court found that the information was privileged, but granted the motion on the basis that the information was relevant and fell under the "dangerous patient" statutory exception to the patient-psychotherapist privilege pursuant to Evidence Code section 1024.⁴ (1 CT 86, 1 RT 10-11.) This exception to the privilege was the focus of the arguments in the Court of Appeal and in the decision of that court. (See Opn. at pp. 10-19, AOB at pp. 25-32, RB at pp. 7-15.) The Court of Appeal concluded:

In short, the record does not contain sufficient evidence to support the application of the "dangerous patient" exception. Moreover, notwithstanding a correct finding that the material sought was privileged, and the mandate to narrowly construe the "dangerous patient" exception, the [trial] court granted the district attorney blanket discovery of all records and information about defendant's therapy and implicitly authorized McAndrews to testify about everything and anything concerning the therapy, including what she and defendant said to each other during therapy as well as her

⁴All statutory references are to the Evidence Code unless otherwise indicated. Section 1024 provides: "There is no privilege under this article if the psychotherapist has reasonable cause to believe that the patient is in such mental or emotional condition as to be dangerous to himself or to the person or property of another and that disclosure of the communication is necessary to prevent the threatened danger."

advice and diagnosis. Under the circumstances, we conclude that the trial court abused its discretion. (Opn. at p. 13.)

In the case before this Court, respondent has shifted focus away from the section 1024 exception and now contends that Evidence Code section 1012 codifies an "exception to the psychotherapist-patient privilege that permits disclosure of otherwise privileged communications between patient and psychotherapist to third persons to whom disclosure is "reasonably necessary" to accomplish the purpose for which the psychotherapist is consulted. (Opening Brief on the Merits (OBM) at p. 7, quoting *In re Christopher M.* (2005) 127 Cal. App. 4th 684, 696.) Respondent reasons that because appellant was on parole, the purpose of the therapy was the protection of society and therefore, section 1012 permitted disclosure of confidential communications. (OBM at pp. 7-17.) Put simply, the Attorney General's position is that a person who receives treatment on parole does not have a privilege. This position is not supported by the record, the law, or sound public policy.

B. The Nature of the Privilege

The patient-psychotherapist privilege is rooted in our state and federal constitutional rights to privacy. In *Griswold v. Connecticut* (1965) 381 U.S. 479, 484, the United States Supreme Court stated: "Specific guarantees in the Bill of Rights have penumbras formed by emanations from those guarantees that help give them life and substance. [Citation.] Various guarantees create zones of privacy." The *Griswold* case addressed issues involving the marital relationship. (*Ibid.*) However, the broad rationale of the decision concerned aspects of intimacy in interpersonal relations and communications. (*Palay v. Superior Court* (1993) 18 Cal.

App. 4th 919, 932.) In *In re Lifschutz* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 415, 432, this Court held that the confidentiality of the psychotherapeutic session falls within one such zone [of privacy]. The California Constitution has been amended to include among the inalienable rights of all people the right to pursue and obtain privacy. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 1.) The drive behind the constitutional amendment was acknowledgment that "fundamental to our privacy is the ability to control circulation of information." (*White v. Davis* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 757, 774, italics omitted.) "Fundamental to the privacy of medical information 'is the ability to control [its] circulation. . . ." (*Board of Medical Quality Assurance v. Gherardini* (1979) 93 Cal.App.3d 669, 678.)

The psychotherapist-patient privilege extends to

confidential communication between patient and psychotherapist' means information, including information obtained by an examination of the patient, transmitted between a patient and his psychotherapist in the course of that relationship and in confidence by a means which, so far as the patient is aware, discloses the information to no third persons other than those who are present to further the interest of the patient in the consultation, or those to whom disclosure is reasonably necessary for the transmission of the information or the accomplishment of the purpose for which the psychotherapist is consulted, and includes a diagnosis made and the advice given by the psychotherapist in the course of that relationship.

(Evid. Code §1012.)

Evidence Code section 1014 provides that the privilege belongs to the patient, and can be claimed by (a) the holder of the privilege, (b) a person who is authorized to claim the privilege by the holder of the privilege, and (c) with some exceptions, the psychotherapist. The "holder of the privilege" is defined as (a) the patient when he has no guardian or conservator (b) a guardian or conservator of the patient when the patient has

a guardian or conservator, or (c) the personal representative of the patient if the patient is dead. (Evid. Code § 1013.)

C. Appellant's Right and Privilege Not to
Disclose Confidential Communications with a
Therapist at Atkins Center Was Not Waived
And There Were No Exceptions Allowing
Disclosure

Pursuant to Evidence Code section 912, the psychotherapist-patient privilege can be

waived with respect to a communication protected by the privilege if any holder of the privilege, without coercion, has disclosed a significant part of the communication or has consented to disclosure made by anyone. Consent to disclosure is manifested by any statement or other conduct of the holder of the privilege indicating consent to the disclosure, including failure to claim the privilege in any proceeding in which the holder has the legal standing and opportunity to claim the privilege. (Emphasis added).)

Such a privilege may only be waived through a clear manifestation of an intent to waive. (*Palay v. Superior Court, supra,* 18 Cal. App. 4th 919, 926, fn. 7.) Here, appellant did not waived his privilege, but aggressively asserted it. (1 CT 114-122, 1 RT 10-11.) Moreover, even when a statutory privilege is waived, "a patient retains the more general right to privacy protected by the state and federal Constitutions." (*San Diego Trolley, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2001) 87 Cal. App. 4th 1083, 1092, citing *Jones v. Superior Court* (1981) 119 Cal. App. 3d 534, 551.)

The issue of waiver of the right to confidentiality in the context of sex offender treatment on parole was addressed in *In re Corona* (2008) 160 Cal. App. 4th 315. In *Corona*, the parolee had agreed to participate in sex offender treatment as a condition of parole, and had agreed to a waiver of

the psychotherapist-patient privilege for the state-reimbursed group therapy program which was a required part of his supervision. (*Id.* at 319.) However, when the parolee was informed by his parole officer that he must also sign a waiver of the privilege to allow his privately retained psychotherapist to communicate with the parole authority, he filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the superior court and successfully challenged the condition. (*Id.* at 317.) On appeal, the Attorney General argued that while the parolee may have a right to refuse to sign the waiver, the State had the right to revoke parole for failure to comply with an important component of the sex offender program. (*Id.* at 320.)

The Court of Appeal rejected the contention and found that the demand for the waiver had an effect contrary to the State's goal of reintegrating the parolee into society by discouraging the parolee to obtain additional treatment. (*In re Corona, supra,* 160 Cal. App. 4th 315, 321.) The court also rejected the Attorney General's contention that under Evidence Code sections 1012 and 1024, the State was authorized to require a waiver from the parolee, and found that there is "nothing in the statutory language that lends itself to such an interpretation. (*Id.* at 322.)

The instant case does not involve individual therapy in addition to the parole-mandated treatment. However, *Corona* illuminates key issues in this case. There was no issue in *Corona* of waiver as to the state-reimbursed group therapy program because the parolee had expressly waived his right to confidentiality as to this aspect of this treatment. (*In re Corona, supra,* 160 Cal. App. 4th 315, 319.) The waiver obtained in *Corona* reinforces the notion that a waiver is not automatic, presumed, or unnecessary due simply to one's status of being a parole subject to sex offender treatment conditions. In appellant's case, although there was a

condition to participate in the Parole Outpatient Clinic (POC), there was no waiver of his confidentiality. (1 CT 177-180.)

Corona also stands for the concept that imposition of a waiver of confidentiality can actually have a effect contrary to the goals of parole by having a discouraging effect on meaningful participation in therapy. (Id. at 321.) Additionally, *Corona* is significant because it rejects the notion that Evidence Code sections 1012 and 1024 combine to create a general exception to the psychotherapist-patient privilege, absent a specific determination that the person presents a serious danger to another within the meaning of Tarasoff v. Regents of University of California (1976) 17 Cal. 3d 425, 431. (Id. at 322.) In People v. Clark (1990) 50 Cal. 3d 583, 618-621, this Court held that once a disclosure of a specific threat to another has been made by a psychotherapist under section 1024, the communication is no longer confidential and is therefore admissible in subsequent legal proceedings Here, the Atkins Program never found it necessary to report appellant for any specific threat or danger on parole. Thus, the alleged communication between appellant and Ms. McAndrews did not lose its confidential character, and was not admissible.

Respondent cites *In re Christopher, supra*, 127 Cal. App. 4th 684, 696, for the notion that "Evidence Code section 1012 codifies an express exception to the psychotherapist-patient privilege that permits disclosure of otherwise privileged communications between patient and psychotherapist to third persons to whom disclosure is reasonably necessary to accomplish the purpose for which the psychotherapist is consulted." (RB at p. 7.) Respondent extrapolates that because a purpose of the treatment on parole is to protect the public, there is, essentially, no privilege. (*Id.* at 7-17.) However, a review of the context of the statement made in *Christopher M*.

shows that it does not support respondent's position.

In re Christopher M. involved a minor who had been found delinquent under Welfare and Institutions Code section 602 for committing a robbery and a hate crime and was placed on probation. (Christopher M., supra, 127 Cal. App. 4th 684, 687.) Two of the conditions required that "all records" relating to Christopher's medical and psychological treatment be made available to the court and the probation officer on request. (Id. at 691.) The minor objected to these conditions, but the trial court refused to strike them. (Id. at 691-692.) The Court of Appeal affirmed, noting that

"juvenile conditions may be broader that those pertaining to adult defenders. This is because juveniles are deemed to be more in need of guidance and supervision than adults, and because a minor's constitutional rights are more circumscribed. The state, when it asserts jurisdiction over a minor, stands in the shoes of the parents. And a parent may 'curtail a child's exercise of the constitutional right ... [because a] parent's own constitutionally protected "liberty" includes the right to "bring up children" [citation,] and to "direct the upbringing and education of children." [citation.]' [Citations.]"

(*Id.* at 693, quoting *In re Antonio R*. (2000) 78 Cal. App. 4th 937.) With this caveat, the court concluded that those to whom disclosure is "reasonably necessary" under section 1012 "would included the juvenile court, where the patient is a delinquent minor who has been properly directed to participate and cooperate in a [rehabilitative] program in conjunction with a disposition order placing the minor on probation." (*Id.* at 696, quoting *In re Pedro M.* (2000) 81 Cal. App. 4th 550, 554.)

Appellant does not endorse the notion that such a broad condition of a juvenile's probation is permissible. However, assuming, *arguendo*, that the *Christopher M*. holding is valid, it does not address the issues before

this Court. Obviously, appellant is not a minor, and neither the district attorney nor the superior court that presided over the section 6600 commitment proceedings was standing in the benevolent shoes of a parent. Furthermore, the superior court had no role in supervising appellant's parole, and unlike adult court, juvenile court proceedings are themselves confidential. (Welf. &. Inst. Code § 827.) Thus, the rationale of *Christopher M.* simply does not apply in this case.

Furthermore, *Christopher M*. involved a requirement that the minor waive the right to confidentiality as a condition of probation, which like the *Corona* case, reinforces the notion that a waiver of confidential communications is required before any disclosure can be made. (*Christopher M, supra*, 127 Cal. App. 4th 684, 691; *In re Corona, supra*, 160 Cal. App. 4th 315, 319.) Thus, contrary to the Attorney General's suggestion, the "exception" described in *Christopher M*. that permits disclosure when it is "reasonably necessary to accomplish the purpose for which the psychotherapist is consulted" still requires a waiver. (*Ibid.*)

The California Sex Offender Management Board is a body created by the Legislature in 2006 charged with developing recommendations to improve management and practices of adult sex offenders under supervision in the community, with the goal of improving community safety. (Penal Code §§ sections 9001, 9002, subd. (a)(2).) This Board consists of seventeen members including the Secretary of the Department of Corrections or designee, the Director of Adult Parole Services or designee, the Director of the Department of Mental Health or designee, the Attorney General or designee, a California state judge, three members of law enforcement, a member who represents prosecuting attorneys, a member who represents probation officers, a member who represents

criminal defense attorneys, a member who is a county administrator, a member who is a city manager or designee, two members who are licensed mental health professionals, and two members who are recognized experts in the field of sexual assault. (Penal Code § 9001, subd. (b).) Pursuant to Penal Code section 9003, the Management Board has developed standards for sex offender management programs which are detailed in a publication entitled "Sex Offender Treatment Program Certification Requirements" ("SOTPCR") (See Attachment to Request for Judicial Notice).)⁵

These certification requirements specifically address issues of Informed Consent and Waiver of Confidentiality. (SOTPCR at p. 5.) With respect to Informed Consent it is required that "All approved treatment programs shall have clearly articulated, written statements informing clients of their rights and responsibilities, the limitations and boundaries of the therapeutic relationship, and the nature of the therapeutic relationship." (*Ibid.*) Furthermore, "Clients participating in treatment are required to give informed consent to treatment." (*Ibid.*) It is also required that treatment providers must ensure that the client has the capacity to understand and give informed consent." (*Ibid.*) Treatment providers must also define in written form or another manner which makes it understandable to the client, inter alia, "[a] statement regarding the client's responsibility to maintain the privacy and confidentiality of other persons who are in the treatment program. (*Ibid.*)

Requirements Pertaining to Waiver of Confidentiality include: Prior to accepting an offender into treatment and as a condition of treatment, *the treatment provider shall obtain a*

⁵This document may also be located at http://www.casomb.org/docs/Certification_Standards/Certification-Program.pdf.

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